GREAT GRIMSBY

Borough in the county of Lincolnshire

A  BRIEF HISTORY

Anyone walking around Grimsby today could be forgiven for not realising the antiquity of the Borough.   It has always been a working town with no Merchant Guilds and very few rich merchants, and as such there have been very few buildings of architectural merit.   Those that were, have been demolished, during this century, by successive Borough Councils addicted to a policy of erasing any individuality and making the town centre just like any other modern town with its shopping precincts and glass and concrete structures.

Traditionally, Grimsby was founded about 866AD by Gryme, a Scandinavian fisherman who first landed in the Old Haven, settled, and lived by fishing and selling salt.   It is     reputed that he rescued from shipwreck Habloc (or Havelock) the son of Guthrun, the king of Denmark, who later married Goldeburgh, daughter of the Anglo-Saxon King Ethlebert.   Some credence may be given to this tradition as one of the ancient common seals of the Borough depicts and names Gryme, Habloc and Goldeburgh.    Any settlement prior to those days was probably restricted to a series of hills or areas raised above the level of the surrounding marshes and creeks; e.g. Home Hill (at the side of a creek), Abbey Hill (which was the later site of a monastery of Black Canons founded about 1110, dedicated to Saint Augustine and Saint olaf and dissolved in 1539), Nuns Hill (later to   become the site of Saint Leonard’s Nunnery and near the site of the House of the Hospitaller of Saint John of Jerusalem), Sand Hill, Ellyll Hill and Toot Hill etc.   A creek wended its way from the River Humber by a serpentine course for three miles, past the Abbey, to the side of the only road into Grimsby were it almost joined another stream which crossed the marshes and joined the Humber to the west of the town.    Thus the settlement was almost an island and it is probable that the marshes were regularly covered by the tides.

Shortly after the Norman Conquest, Grimsby was divided between King William’s half brother Odo ( Bishop of Bayeaux) and two of his supporters - Drago de Beurere and Ralph de Mortimer.     It was not long, however, before the lands were all seized by the King.    At the time of the Domeday Survey (1086) Grimsby had two churches, Saint Mary’s ( which fell into disrepair and was finally demolished in the 16th century) and the present Parish Church of Saint James ( the foundation date of which is uncertain).

Although Grimsby was a Borough by tradition as early as the 11th Century, its first        recorded Charter was granted by King John on the 11th March 1201.   This came about after it had been decided by the townsfolk to fortify the town; and in 1200, Ralph of Bradley was paid the sum of £80 to provide the materials for a castle and building work       began.   Now this would have led to some degree of suppression by the King on the      locals, and so they bought a Charter of Liberties in exchange for not continuing with the castle.   Thus the charter of 1201, which created the first Freemen, or Burgesses as they were known, was granted.   The unused materials, stone and lime, were purchased by Robert of Bassingham - who now occupied the lands previously held by Ralph - for the sum of 28 marks.   Within the County of Lincolnshire only one or two towns can claim to have an earlier charter and for five hundred and fifty years, between 1283 and the     passing of the Parliamentary Reform Act of 1832, the Burgesses of Grimsby ( and this came to mean the Enrolled Freemen as they were the only people entitled to vote) elected two members of parliament.   The Reform Act reduced the number to one.  
During the Middle Ages the economy of this small town mainly consisted of maritime trade (both import and export) including the support of the King’s forces and their various military excursions to Scotland, Flanders and France etc.   Wine was imported from Spain and France, timber from Scandinavia, hemp and cloth from the Baltic, Hanseatic ports and East Prussia, Herrings, eels, bay salt, flax, fruit and nuts from Flanders.   Wool was exported to Calais (one of the Staple Ports) and corn to Norway.   The King,s forces were supported by the carriage of corn to Flanders (1296-7), tools and iron to Berwick (1301-3) and by the provision of ships of war as required.

In those early days there were very few references to fishing being carried out by boats from Grimsby, the fish that were sold were either caught in nets fastened to stakes on the sea shore or was brought by boats from other ports.    Due to the silting-up of the Haven in the 15th and 16th centuries ( caused by the washing away of the cliffs at Cleethorpes, to the east of the town, and the tide then depositing the soil into the Grimsby Haven and into a large bay to the west of the town) the port became of less importance.   The prosperity of the town fluctuated several times between relative prosperity and periods of acute depression until, with the building of the New Docks following the Grimsby Haven act of 1796, it became increasingly dependant upon fish and ultimately developed into the largest fishing port in the world.   During the second half of this century there has been considerable diversification of industry and in the last twenty-five years the Port of Grimsby, in common with all other fishing ports in the UK has, because of the lack of a coherent Government and EEC policy on fishing rights in national and international     waters, declined to a fraction of its former prosperity to such an extent that fish         processing factories and merchants are, to a large extent, once again dependant upon supplies of imported fish.

On the 1st January 197   , Grimsby changed its name to Great Grimsby, to reflect a     usage from Victorian times. 

In 1341, Letters patent were issued by King Edward lll granting to the Mayor and        Burgesses of the Borough certain waste and marsh lands which were previously outside the Borough boundary.   This was the origination of what was ultimately to become the lands vested in the Freemen of the Borough and as a result of the Enclosure Acts         additional lands in Littlefield and Haycroft areas also passed into the ownership of the Freemen.   With the building of the New Dock at the beginning of the 19th century and the advent of the Manchester, Sheffield and Lincolnshire Railway Company in 1848, what was originally waste and marsh land became valuable building land.

Originally, the benefits of the Freedom were the right to trade within the Borough, to vote at Municipal and Parliamentary elections ( with its attendant financial advantages as “buying” of votes was common in Grimsby as elsewhere), the right to pasture sheep,    cattle and horses on the common pastures, the freedom from payment of tolls both within and outside the Borough and, for several hundred years, free education for their children at their own exclusive school.   Since the middle of the 19th century, however, these benefits have been exchanged for a twice yearly dividend, payable to all those on the pastures Roll, from the ground rents received in respect of the land vested in the      Freemen of the Borough, the profit derived from the operation of a thrice weekly market and the interest on the investments held by the Charity Commissioners on their behalf.

Along with the benefits came responsibilities.   Until the Municipal Reform Acts of the 1830s all Municipal duties were carried out by Freemen, i.e. Mayor, Common           Councillors, Aldermen, Pinders, Constable and bailiff etc.   This latter dignitary was responsible for collecting the Fee Farm Rent ( originally payable to the King) and as he was personally responsible for any unpaid rents it invariably resulted in financial                embarrassment to the holder of the office.   A Freeman had to bear his “Scot and Lot”, that is to pay any taxes which were due and to hold office as and when required.    If     office were refused then this could result in a fine and the person being struck off and the  loss of benefits.   Today this gives rise to such sayings as “scot free” - to get away with something and ones”lot” in life - to describe ones work or position in society.

There were originally five methods of admission to the Freedom in Grimsby, by being born the son of a Freeman (patrimony), by marrying the daughter or widow of a Freeman (Matrimony), by serving a seven year indentured apprenticeship to a freemen (servitude), by purchase and by gift.   Nowadays only the first two survive in Grimsby, each being   dependant upon the father being a resident freeman at the time of the birth.   Residents of the village of Wellow did not become eligible until the 19th century and those in Scartho in the 20th century as the old Borough boundaries expanded.    Whilst seven year apprenticeships are now no longer desirable or practicable, servitude in a modern form is the only method of admission in the City of Coventry.   Equally, although the granting of the Freedom by Gift and Purchase were abolished by the Municipal           Corporations Act of 1835, this Act was never imposed upon the City of London and these two method survive there to this day.    The concept behind the purchase of the Freedom was a type of medieval trading licence.    In most towns it was necessary to be a member of a Trade Merchant Guild in order to trade.   In Grimsby it was necessary to be a     Freeman of the Borough and therefore,  those from without the Borough wishing to trade therein had to buy their Freedom.    The title of Gift is something of a misnomer since the recipient was expected to pay for the privilege.   It was usually “given”  to potential    Members of Parliament, The High Steward, the Recorder and such persons.   The      borough Council do, from time to time, confer the Honorary Freedom upon eminent persons who have rendered valuable service to the town or local community, but this is    entirely different to the hereditary Freedom.

Equally, the freedom could be lost by being in receipt of Parish Poor Relief ( or even by ones mother, whilst a widow, being in receipt, by committing a felony or by taking up   residence outside of the Borough.    In the last case, which is only one which still applies, moving back into the Borough regains the Freedom.

The enrolled Freemen of Grimsby are now some one thousand men who are descended from, or whose wives have decended from, Freebugesses or freemen of the old Borough of Grimsby who has the rights of common etc. in the manorial lands of the Corporation and who continue to reside within a pay Council Tax, if any is due.    In addition, there are at the moment, approximately two hundred widows of Freemen, who have not        remarried, whose names also appear on the Pastures Roll and who receive the same twice yearly dividend as the men.   The Pastures Act of 1949, which superseded that of 1849, governs what the Enrolled Freemen may do and their investments are held in trust by the Charity Commissioners.   The day to day affairs of the Enrolled Freemen are    controlled by the Pastures Committee which consists of fourteen Freemen who are elected at the general meeting which is held annually on the first Monday of June.    The Pastures Committee have their own Clerk , who is a solicitor, and Treasurer who is a chartered accountant.

THE GUILD
The Great Grimsby Guild of Freemen is a separate organisation, founded in 1978.   The Royal Coat of Arms adopted as the Guild badge was also that of the Freemen’s School or Corporation Grammar School as it was known.    The Guild members are drawn from the Enrolled Freemen, the wives, daughters and widows of Freemen and also  from those who are Freemen but no longer resident within the Borough ( known as “foreign”       Freemen).   Membership, like the fortunes of the town in the past, has ebbed and flowed and now stands at about one hundred.    Meetings of a varied nature, designed to enable members to gather for both social and educational events, are organised whenever    possible.   The affairs of the guild are controlled by a “Court” of twelve elected members.   The Officers of the Court consist of the Master, Deputy Master (retiring Master), Senior Warden (Master elect), Junior Warden, Chamberlain, Secretary, Membership Secretary and Archivist.    A quarterly newsletter has been published in the past but owing to a    depletion in the number of Court members this has not been possible in recent years.   The Guild is affiliated to the national Association of the Freemen of England and Wales and has acted as hosts for their Annual general meeting, a weekend affair during       September, in 1982 and 1992.   We have also volunteered to host the AGM in 2001, the Octo-Centenary of the granting of the first Charter to Grimsby.

THE HUMBERSIDE ACT 1982

Section 262 of the Local Government Act 1972 promted a local Bill to formalise local  legislation accross the new county of Humberside.    During the consultation period   counsel’s opinion, obtained from Charles Sparrow Q.C., confirmed that action was        required if the Pastures Acts - namely the Grimsby Pastures Act 1849 and the Grimsby Corporation Act 1949 - were not in due course to cease to have effect.    Thus further statutory initiative was necessary.    This was enacted in section 81 of , and schedule 5 to, the Humberside Act 1982 which repealed out of date parts of the Acts of 1849 and 1949, updated others, and provided in sections 81(5) for the continuing effect of the     unrepealed provisions

On the 1st April 1996 the former Borough Council became part of the new unitary   authority North East Lincolnshire Council.
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